Center for American Progress



Realignment: Managing a Stable Transition to Afghan Responsibility

Recommendations for the United States and Its Allies

Caroline Wadhams, Colin Cookman, Brian Katulis, and Lawrence Korb November 2010



Realignment: Managing a Stable Transition to Afghan Responsibility

Recommendations for the United States and Its Allies

Caroline Wadhams, Colin Cookman, Brian Katulis, and Lawrence Korb November 2010

Contents

1 Introduction and summary

2 Transitioning to a viable end state in Afghanistan

5 Challenges to creating a sustainable Afghan state

- 5 Need for an alignment of U.S. and NATO political, diplomatic, and military strategies
- 8 A resilient insurgency
- 10 The Afghan government's legitimacy and capability gap
- 11 Regional players' pursuit of their own diplomatic ends in Afghanistan

13 Building a stable Afghan state to survive a U.S. drawdown

- 13 Create a political strategy with deadlines and benchmarks
- 18 Facilitate internal peace talks
- 21 Increase international diplomatic efforts
- 24 Reduce the U.S. military footprint and align military strategy with political objectives

29 Conclusion

31 Acknowledgments and about the authors

34 Endnotes

Introduction and summary

Current U.S. efforts in Afghanistan are fundamentally out of balance, and they are not advancing U.S. interests and stability in Afghanistan, Pakistan, and the region. Military operations drive our strategy while the political and diplomatic framework essential for long-term stability in Afghanistan remains undeveloped.

Further, this overinvestment of resources and attention in Afghanistan is out of alignment with core U.S. security interests in the region. Those interests center on reducing the risk of terrorist attacks by Al Qaeda and its affiliated networks against the United States and its allies. They also include increasing the political stability of the Pakistani state, a country of 170 million people with nuclear weapons.

Preventing state collapse in Afghanistan and managing a stable and enduring transition of responsibility to Afghan leaders would enable the United States to best meet these core security objectives in the region and over the long term support a peaceful, economically integrated region. A smaller U.S. and NATO-ISAF military footprint with a more robust political and diplomatic effort has a greater chance of reaching this desirable end state of stability than a full-blown counterinsurgency effort to extend the government of Kabul throughout the country and defeat the Taliban insurgency.

The Obama administration should use its upcoming year-end policy review to refocus on the political and diplomatic components of its strategy while it transitions out of Afghanistan. This will entail building an inclusive settlement to the country's conflict, developing an Afghan state that is increasingly less dependent on external support, and facilitating an international diplomatic agreement among Afghanistan's neighbors and regional partners.

The administration must commit to transferring responsibility to Afghan leaders in the near future, as agreed to by the Afghan government, the United States, and the NATO-led International Security Assistance Force, or ISAF. We should reduce our military footprint at a steady pace beginning now with full transfer to Afghan control by 2014 at the latest. A reduction in troop levels and assistance should occur more rapidly, however, if Afghanistan's government does not begin a serious process of political reform and dialogue with its armed and unarmed opponents.

To be sure, an accelerated withdrawal would have costs—many of which the Afghan people would have to bear. It is not an ideal approach by far. But the United States can protect its core security interests with a reduced military presence in Afghanistan. And without shifts in the current political structure in Afghanistan it will be simply futile for the United States and its NATO allies to wage continued war on behalf of a government that cannot consolidate domestic political support without indefinite massive international assistance.

Transitioning to a viable end state in Afghanistan

The United States, with its NATO-ISAF partners, must prioritize measures that can induce political and economic reforms on the part of the Afghan government in order to manage a measured drawdown in Afghanistan over the next three years. Beyond 2014, the United States may offer Afghanistan financial support and maintain a small military force to undertake targeted attacks against terrorist groups, conduct intelligence gathering, and provide training of Afghan National Security Forces.

The task for the Obama administration through the remainder of its first term in office is redirecting its diplomatic, financial, and military resources toward a sustainable settlement in Afghanistan in which the United States can transition responsibility to Afghan leaders without sparking an expanded round of conflict. But a self-sustaining state in Afghanistan capable of surviving a drawdown in largescale international assistance requires a political system that offers the diverse factions in Afghanistan's society—including those backing the current government, those taking part in armed insurgency, and those sitting on the fence—an opportunity to participate in their country's future.

The United States and its partners in NATO, Kabul, and the region should work toward the following goals in order to achieve a stable, increasingly self-reliant Afghan state:

• An Afghan state that delegates more power, resources, appointments, and justice to the local level and to other centers of power such as the parliament and judiciary in order to create a more balanced power dynamic than what currently exists

The task for the Obama administration through the remainder of its first term in office is redirecting its diplomatic, financial, and military resources toward a sustainable settlement in Afghanistan.

- A more inclusive process for addressing the grievances of both armed government opponents who are willing to enter into a political dialogue and unarmed Afghan citizens whose lives have also been adversely affected by government impunity and conflict
- Afghan National Security Forces that can provide security against internal and external threats and that operate under the Afghan central government's control
- A regional strategic framework in which neighboring countries agree to recognize the sovereignty of the Afghan government while providing constructive support for its reintegration into the region
- No safe haven for terrorist groups in Afghanistan and Pakistan to attack either country, the United States, or other countries in the region or around the world

U.S. government agencies and the White House should immediately undertake the following actions to accomplish these goals:

- Create a political strategy with deadlines and benchmarks to create greater checks and balances, broaden the base of support for Afghanistan's government, and develop Afghan government revenue sources while conditioning further assistance on progress in meeting those goals.
- Encourage inclusive reconciliation among fighting parties and unarmed actors in Afghanistan and insist on baseline requirements of renunciation of violence, protecting basic human rights, and preventing terrorist safe havens.
- Undertake an aggressive international diplomatic initiative that brings in all of Afghanistan's neighbors into a dialogue, including Pakistan, India, Iran, and other regional players.
- Reduce the U.S. military footprint, realigning U.S. and NATO military strategy with political end goals and core security interests.

In the pages that follow this report will analyze the principal obstacles that stand in the way of an effective Afghan government that can survive a significant drawdown of U.S. and NATO forces. It will then outline the actions that the United States and its allies in NATO and Kabul should take to overcome these obstacles through a refocus on political reform, a political settlement among Afghans, and a diplomatic agreement with international players. But we must acknowledge at the outset that a durable resolution of Afghanistan's conflict is an extremely daunting challenge given the mistrust on all sides and the degree to which different actors in the contest for power are motivated by their own short-term interests rather than the long-term stability of the country. The suffering of the Afghan people from 30 years of war and the regional and global spillover effects from the country's instability should serve as an impetus to our allies in Afghanistan and their international backers to work for a more sustainable political arrangement. Doing so will require difficult compromises on all sides that the United States can push for but cannot dictate.

Challenges to creating a sustainable Afghan state

The Obama administration inherited a forgotten and failing situation in Afghanistan that was the result of its predecessor's seven years of mismanagement and neglect. The administration has intensified U.S. and NATO efforts in Afghanistan and Pakistan by tripling U.S. troops to more than 100,000 and civilian personnel to 1,000 in order to reverse the deteriorating situation. NATO-ISAF forces have also increased to 40,400 from 28,250 during this time.¹

The administration has also added funding for training Afghanistan's security forces and for nonmilitary assistance, which in combination with the increased pace of operations comes out to a monthly bill exceeding \$8 billion. All told, more than \$350 billion has been spent by the United States in Afghanistan since 2001.²

But despite this infusion of resources and personnel an assessment of the past year's operations in Afghanistan finds serious concerns about the gains achieved, and unresolved challenges remain. This section examines challenges that will need to be overcome to create an increasingly self-sustaining Afghan state. These include:

- The need for an alignment of U.S. and NATO political, diplomatic, and military strategies
- A resilient insurgency
- The Afghan government's legitimacy and capability gap
- Regional players' pursuit of their own diplomatic ends in Afghanistan

Need for an alignment of U.S. and NATO political, diplomatic, and military strategies

The Obama administration came into office seeking to correct the strategic drift that characterized the Bush administration's approach to Afghanistan. In its two policy reviews in March 2009 and December 2009 it decided that the ultimate

objectives for the United States in Afghanistan and Pakistan are to "disrupt, dismantle and defeat Al Qaeda and its safe havens in Pakistan, and to prevent their return to Pakistan and Afghanistan."³

While these are important objectives, they are disconnected from Afghanistan's political and strategic realities. Intelligence assessments judge Al Qaeda's presence to be minimal but many other conflict actors could potentially undermine state and regional stability. What's more, the administration's stated goal defines strategic success solely in the negative and it does not clarify what positive end state the administration either hopes to achieve or assesses to be realistically achievable.

The United States is currently pursuing an expansive, expensive undertaking that seeks to reverse the momentum of the Taliban insurgency—identified as the primary vector for Al Qaeda to return to strength in the country—through military operations in specific insurgent strongholds in the southern and eastern parts of the country. These operations aim to deny the Taliban access to and control of key population and production centers and lines of communication, and degrade their command and control to the point where the insurgency is judged manageable by the Afghan National Security Forces, or ANSF.

In addition to these clearing operations the United States and NATO-ISAF increasingly rely on covert special operations strikes against midlevel insurgent commanders in an attempt to degrade insurgent capabilities and create more space for the government. According to military officials nearly 368 of these leaders have been killed in a three-month time period ending mid-November, with special forces alone averaging 17 missions a night.⁴

Administration officials argue that military operations are necessary to establish a baseline of security in order to provide space for the political situation to improve. But if these operations support a political structure and internal balance of power that cannot be sustained independent of large-scale international military investments it is unclear how an enduring and stable transition can occur without first undertaking reforms. Military efforts do little to address the Afghan people's grievances over political exclusion or governmental impunity, consolidate Afghan government political support over the long term, or strengthen a government plagued by its own disconnection from Afghan communities and suffering from a legitimacy deficit. Nor do they stop the Pakistani military's support for insurgents. The tactical victories achieved are therefore ephemeral.

Moreover, these military operations contribute to negative sociopolitical dynamics that can counteract temporary security gains. The United States and NATO-ISAF have significantly distorted local economies by providing large contracts to provide protection to security convoys, construct bases, and transport supplies to troops to support the military presence and conduct its operations. These funds have empowered new actors in Afghanistan and strengthened predatory government officials, creating resentment in localities around Afghanistan as well as opposition to foreign forces.

The Obama administration and its allies focused on the transition of security responsibilities to the Afghan government at the November 2010 Lisbon conference of the NATO alliance. They also underscored a commitment to longer-term partnership. But the criteria required for transition remain ill defined, and the commitments appear to be principally one-way, with few concrete reciprocal pledges of reform on the part of the Afghan government itself.⁵

Without clarity on these issues the transition is likely to remain elusive and forever on the horizon. Thus far, out of the 83 "key terrain" districts identified by NATO-ISAF as critical to success against the insurgency only the capital of Kabul and its immediate environs have thus far been transferred to Afghan leadership.⁶

Current military strategy operates on the questionable assumption that the Taliban-led insurgency must be destroyed to advance U.S. national security interests. Al Qaeda and the Taliban insurgency are not one and the same, however. While Al Qaeda serves as an enabler to some elements of the insurgency it is but one of many factors contributing to the insurgency's strength, as described in the next section. Driving a permanent wedge between these groups is essential for U.S. interests, but our current operations may only be bringing them closer.

Moreover, Afghanistan represents only one piece of a larger range of national security threats and opportunities facing the United States and the international community. Even so, it currently consumes a heavy share of American resources and attention. Total U.S. operations and assistance spending in Afghanistan for fiscal year 2010 exceeded \$100 billion—nearly equivalent to total spending on the national nonmilitary intelligence budget and the budget for the entire Department of Homeland Security combined.⁷

Al Qaeda affiliates today are established in several countries in addition to Pakistan's borderlands along the Afghan border. The recent discovery of explosive air packages bound for the United States from Yemen—Al Qaeda is most likely responsible—illustrate the terrorist threat's evolving nature.

Additionally, traditional state powers armed with powerful militaries or nuclear weapons such as China, North Korea, and Pakistan remain part of our strategic environment.

The bottom line is that the international community's military strategy in Afghanistan is ultimately unsustainable. We are overinvested in Afghanistan relative to the risks at stake and other national priorities. Security gains will be temporary absent substantial governmental reforms in the country and outreach to internal and external actors who serve as spoilers to the status quo. And without a legitimate government and effective internal security forces, the international community is left to clear the insurgency largely on its own and then hold its positions indefinitely.

A resilient insurgency

Insurgent tactics have caused reprehensible losses of Afghan life through suicide bombings and improvised explosive devices, and they were responsible for over three-quarters of recorded civilian deaths in the first half of 2010.⁸ But their primary strengths lie in their ability to capitalize on public discontent—especially in Pashtun areas in the south and east—and mobilize finances and arms through both cooptation and coercion in opposition to the Karzai government's abusive and exclusionary practices.

The insurgency is comprised of several factions. Each of these factions and their subgroups has different motivations, tactics, and bases of support.⁹ Some elements of the insurgency have links to terrorist groups such as Al Qaeda, Lashkare-Taiba (focused on India and Kashmir), and the Tehrik-e-Taliban Pakistan (focused against Pakistan). But the majority of the insurgents currently fighting in Afghanistan today are Afghans from the Pashtun ethnic group who are focused on a local agenda and do not have global aspirations or the means to act outside their immediate area.

Despite a large increase in operations and targeted killings and captures by international military forces the insurgency's ability to carry out operations does not appear to have been significantly weakened. Intelligence assessments thus far suggest that the Taliban command-and-control structure is resilient enough to replace fallen

We are overinvested in Afghanistan relative to the risks at stake and other national priorities. Security gains will be temporary absent substantial governmental reforms in the country and outreach to internal and external actors who serve as spoilers to the status quo.

commanders. And pressure on southern sanctuaries appears to be matched by new insurgent attacks in the north where international military presence is still light.¹⁰

Their sanctuary in Pakistan, a steady supply of recruits internally, and significant financial resources from Gulf states, the opium trade, and even U.S. taxpayers (through extorting shares of international aid flows) has thus far enabled the insurgency to continuously regenerate.

Reports of recent talks between the Karzai government and high-level Taliban representatives have caused some optimism that the current strategy is exerting pressure on the insurgency. The lack of transparency surrounding these assertions, however, makes it difficult to assess whether these interlocutors represent significant factions of the insurgency or are in fact amenable to any deal. Public statements by Taliban commanders and spokesmen thus far appear unanimous in their opposition to any rapprochement as long as international forces are present in the country.¹¹

Even if persistent strikes against midlevel commanders do prove effective at breaking organizational cohesion these strikes run the risk of dividing the insurgency to a point where the group's external leadership would be incapable of enforcing any potential settlement agreement. Surviving field commanders, too, have little incentive to give up the fight under persistent threat of death or capture by their enemies and with larger questions of political compromise and reconciliation unresolved. They could continue to carry out local-level attacks against a government still too weak to effectively respond.¹²

Military efforts thus far have failed to decisively affect the insurgency's root strengths or deter its motivations for continued fighting, and U.S. commanders acknowledge that we cannot "kill our way out" of Afghanistan's conflict. As discussed later, a process for creating a more inclusive government and addressing the grievances of armed government opponents who are willing to enter into a political dialogue is necessary to deal with these problems. These efforts should be combined with providing support to strong Afghan national security forces that can defend against internal and external threats.

The Afghan government's legitimacy and capability gap

The Afghan government structure is one of the most highly centralized in the world. President Hamid Karzai and the parliament are democratically elected but the system is fundamentally autocratic in nature. The executive branch controls appointments from provincial governors to district police chiefs to mayors and community leaders.¹³ It operates on a patronage model in which it distributes resources, access to international funding, and power to individuals in return for their loyalty to the Karzai government. The Afghan public's resentment of this imposition from Kabul and the inherent lack of accountability in the system fuels the insurgency and is a chief means of its mobilization.

The international coalition is divided among its members and disagrees with its partner government in Kabul on how best to increase public support for the Afghan government. Increasing the Afghan government's legitimacy and support has not been a priority for the international community, either. Its first-order concerns about international terrorism have led it to rely on many unofficial and official powerbrokers for intelligence and contracts instead of focusing on the political grievances of many individuals and communities who feel helpless to address perceived abuses by government officials and/or powerbrokers.

U.S. policymakers have occasionally pressured the Karzai administration to deal with high-level corruption. But they have not outlined a clear political strategy to address the crisis of confidence in the Afghan government. And Karzai has to date successfully pushed back on the international community's tentative attempts to push political reforms upon him despite his government's high degree of dependence on external support.¹⁴ This is partially due to his belief that we need him more than he needs us.

This dependence on external support will likely continue given the country's poverty and the government's weakness. More than 70 percent of Afghanistan's government-administered budget is financed by international donors and that budget is in turn dwarfed by the wholly donor-managed and donor-funded "external budget."¹⁵

This extensive dependence on international donors has serious implications for coherent planning, coordination of effort between the Afghan government and foreign donors, and government capacity-building. It also prevents the basic connection between the state and the population through taxation. Without that connection the Kabul government, like other rentier states, is able to avoid the hard choices necessary to mobilize domestic legitimacy. But the reality is that these current levels of assistance are unsustainable over the long term due to domestic political and economic realities within the international coalition financing Afghanistan.

NATO leaders have sought to couple short-term development assistance projects with their military operations as part of a counterinsurgency strategy to increase linkages between the Afghan government and the population in the cleared areas and strengthen the Afghan government's legitimacy. But these programs end up distorting local economies by flooding impoverished areas with poorly accounted-for funds. Their potential to upset local balances of power—particularly when the United States and other donors rely on private armed contractors to provide security for their projects, which has empowered a range of new armed political networks across the country—makes the prospect of building loyalty to the government through development aid an unproven one at best.¹⁶

Regional players' pursuit of their own diplomatic ends in Afghanistan

Afghanistan's neighbors all influence the country's internal political and security dynamics to varying degrees. Its neighbor Pakistan—with whom it shares a large and fluid border and a history of covert action—is the key player in this regard. As mentioned earlier, Pakistan's security services continue to provide some elements of the insurgency sanctuary from which to train, fundraise, recruit, and plan for cross-border operations.

The Pakistani military has escalated attacks over the past year against indigenous Pakistani Taliban militants who directly target the Pakistani state. But it continues to provide shelter and some level of support to the Taliban's Quetta Shura leadership, the Haqqani network, and Hezb-e-Islami as a hedge against an Afghan political settlement that could lead to greater independence or close alliance with India at Pakistan's expense.

Pakistan's intention to retain control over any rapprochement process between the Taliban and the Karzai government was signaled by its arrest of Taliban operational commander Mullah Abdul Ghani Baradar in February 2010 and its refusal to turn him over to U.S. and Afghan authorities.¹⁷ More recently Pakistani officials voiced opposition at Pakistan's exclusion from reported talks between the Afghan government and Afghan insurgents.¹⁸ Afghanistan's neighbors all influence the country's internal political and security dynamics to varying degrees. Pakistan is not the only one with interests in Afghanistan, however. Iran, too, is believed to be playing both sides. It provides some weapons to insurgents while also giving financial assistance to the Afghan government and its allies in Afghanistan.

India, for its part, is one of the largest donors of foreign assistance to Afghanistan. Pakistan's allegations that India has dozens of consulates and is fomenting civil war in Pakistan from their base in Afghanistan are exaggerated. Still, the Indians most likely are gathering some intelligence on Pakistan from Afghanistan and cultivating allies to influence Pakistan if necessary. These are deeply threatening actions for the Pakistanis.¹⁹ Finally, China has invested in some sectors of the Afghan economy but remains reluctant to engage more deeply.

Since taking office Special Representative for Afghanistan and Pakistan Richard Holbrooke has regularly convened an International Contact Group of regional and international diplomatic representatives on Afghanistan.²⁰ These meetings, though, have often been eclipsed by discussions among NATO-contributing countries and Afghanistan's immediate neighbors have often felt marginalized. Many of these regional players are suspicious of long-term American strategic intentions in Afghanistan and toward its neighbors. But they also worry about a new power vacuum following a U.S. withdrawal.

A stable, peaceful Afghanistan will depend on the support of other countries in the region. These countries' conflicting interests, however, and the priority given to military operations thus far makes it extremely challenging to achieve anything close to a diplomatic consensus.

Building a stable Afghan state to survive a U.S. drawdown

Over the next three years the United States, with its NATO-ISAF partners, should aim to significantly reduce its troop presence and financial burden with the goal of transitioning authority and responsibility to an Afghan state that is largely stable, capable of defending itself from internal and external threats with international financial support, unfriendly to terrorist groups in the region and beyond, and serving as a neutral country without allegiance to any one neighboring country.

Managing the challenges outlined above and ensuring that the transition is lasting and enduring will require realigning U.S. policy toward Afghanistan around the following priorities:

- Creation of a political strategy to increase government representation and accountability with clear deadlines and benchmarks
- Facilitation of internal peace talks
- Increase in international diplomatic efforts
- Reduction of the U.S. military footprint and alignment of military strategy with political and diplomatic objectives

Create a political strategy with deadlines and benchmarks

A durable political settlement in Afghanistan won't happen unless substantial progress is made on securing the Afghan public's support for their government. A viable and self-sustaining state in Afghanistan requires a political system that offers the diverse factions in Afghanistan's society—including those backing the current government, those taking part in armed insurgency, and those sitting on the fence—an opportunity to participate in their country's future, have basic justice, and live in peace. The measured withdrawal of U.S. forces should signal to Afghan leaders that they must gain greater Afghan buy-in from various factions—includ-ing nonarmed actors and even some insurgents—if they hope to avoid collapse or perpetual dependency on the international community for their survival.

The Afghan government has promised to undertake many reforms in several documents and pledges—including Karzai's 2009 inaugural address, the January 2010 London Conference, the March 2010 subnational governance policy, and the Kabul Conference communiqué of July 2010. But the international community rarely if ever speaks with one voice and often allows many past promises to slip by unmet. As long as this trend continues Afghanistan will move no closer to an inclusive model for government and the international community's investment will deepen without results.

The absence of internal checks and balances within the Afghan political system means that international donors are one of the few actors capable of holding the Afghan executive branch accountable for its activities. The international community cannot dictate the behavior of a sovereign Afghan government, but when it presents clear and uniform conditions for its continued assistance President Karzai has occasionally shown some willingness to compromise. The appointment of two international commissioners to the Electoral Complaints Commission and the delay on a ban on all private security contractor activity are two recent examples.

The degree to which these compromises can be exacted will depend upon the international community and the United States' ability to focus on reforms and back up their requests with serious consequences.

The United States and its allies must therefore use what leverage they have to push the Afghan executive branch to relinquish some of its concentrated power with the goal of increasing internal checks and balances and broadening the governing coalition within a national government framework still led by the president of Afghanistan.

Following the Lisbon conference in November 2010 and the completion of the Obama administration's Afghanistan policy review in January 2011 policymakers in U.S. agencies and across the international community should create a clear set of expectations to be delivered to the Afghan government. Significant portions of U.S. and allied financial and military assistance to Afghanistan must be conditioned on the Afghan government addressing specific political grievances and undertaking reforms that can increase its long-term political and financial self-sustainability.

International funding going outside of the Afghan-government-managed budget currently comprises the vast majority of international funding for Afghanistan. This should also be used as leverage. An understanding of who is receiving money The absence of internal checks and balances within the Afghan political system means that international donors are one of the few actors capable of holding the Afghan executive branch accountable for its activities.

from international donors countrywide and an individual's relationship to the central government should enable foreign donors to determine leverage points and cease funding for certain individuals and their networks. This may require the cessation of military contracts to individuals associated with the Karzai political network in order to exercise influence on the Afghan government's calculations.

At the same time, incentives can be offered for improvements on a political reform agenda. Delivering money to the government through an international trust fund like the Afghan Reconstruction Trust Fund offers greater control of aid as well as a potential mechanism for oversight and reporting.

Quarterly assessments should follow the communication of these reform expectations, beginning with the Afghan fiscal year in March 2011. These assessments should track the government's progress at both the national and local levels in implementing these and other changes designed to increase the government's representativeness, inclusion, and financial sustainability. These commitments and progress assessments must focus on measures of increasing Afghan political participation not delivering dollars and development assistance as an attempted substitute.

The international community should begin withdrawing funding at the start of the 2012 Afghan fiscal year in areas where progress is not being made. This could be done either programmatically (withholding operating funds to the Independent Election Commission if its directors do not receive parliamentary confirmation, for example) or by area (withdrawing Provincial Reconstruction Teams and canceling projects in provinces where provincial budgeting procedures are not being implemented, for example) depending on the issue in question.

The strategic partnership agreement between the United States and Afghanistan currently being sought by President Karzai and ongoing multilateral discussions between Afghanistan and NATO over the transition to Afghan leadership by 2014 offer a potential framework for formalizing commitments and expectations.

The quarterly assessments should also dictate military deployments and transfer plans in July 2011 and beyond. Areas that show progress can be bolstered by reinvested training and quick-reaction forces. A lack of meaningful progress, by contrast, indicates resources may not be well spent in these areas and international troops should be withdrawn more quickly. Specific political reform agenda items that the United States and its allies should push for include but are not limited to:

Promoting greater representation and accountability mechanisms

The Afghan government's March 2010 subnational governance policy is far from a perfect document but it sets guidelines for district- and municipal-level elections and promises greater powers of oversight and budgeting to the provincial, district, and municipal levels of government. Preparations for and implementation of these efforts—particularly the devolution of local input into how development projects are budgeted, selected, and prioritized—should be a central priority for the government and its international backers over the next year.

Official appointments will need to be more representative of community desires whether they are determined by elections in areas where security allows or through consultation with the local shura councils where those bodies exist. As a general rule, resources should be prioritized for areas where security permits local elections and a regular interaction between the government and the community rather than the most difficult regions of the country.

The Independent Directorate of Local Governance, which is charged with managing the appointment of a wide range of local government officials, is too critical a body to operate solely at the discretion of the president. International donor support for its operations should be conditional at the very least on parliamentary confirmation for its leadership and ideally by some formalized process for inclusive consultation in the areas where appointments are made.

NATO-ISAF has had some success encouraging and facilitating discussions between President Karzai and community leaders in Marjah and Kandahar. These types of visits and consultations must be increased dramatically as a first step in learning and addressing public grievances and establishing a more formal representation. A commission of independent actors including individuals from the religious, business, and civil society communities could also be established to assess grievances and to make recommendations.

Finally, the Afghan government needs to increase its release of its budgets, projects, and government decisions to the public in order to increase transparency of government decision-making.

Official appointments will need to be more representative of community desires whether they are determined by elections in areas where security allows or through consultation with the local shura councils where those bodies exist.

Reforming and implementing the electoral law

The Karzai government has promised to initiate a "strategy for long-term electoral reform that addresses in particular the sustainability of the electoral process." It has done little, though, to implement significant changes. Local district council and municipal elections have yet to be held years after the constitution's passage. As noted above, preparations for and the conduct of these elections wherever possible should be a top priority.

Electoral reforms need to include provisions giving the parliament power to name some Electoral Complaints Commission members and to confirm the Independent Election Commission director rather than acceding to the executive branch's total control over both bodies. And reforms should strengthen political parties and reconsider using the Single Non-Transferable Vote system, which impedes the development of political parties, weakens the parliament, and distorts outcomes in which small minorities of the voting public elect winning candidates for parliament and the majority of voters are not represented.²¹

Focusing on increasing domestic revenue generation in Afghanistan

Afghanistan's needs will remain great for the foreseeable future but the Afghan state's sustainability and international donors' limited patience for indefinite largescale expenditures requires the government to begin collecting its own revenue and reducing its dependence on foreign aid.

Donors do help address immediate humanitarian needs and pay for the security forces needed to ensure the government's survival. The problem is that they also help the government avoid the hard task of mobilizing domestic support and revenue to sustain itself over the long term. The international community, therefore, should match its contributions over a multiyear time period to the Afghan government's own domestic revenue-generation capabilities. Such an approach should be managed through an international framework like the Afghan Reconstruction Trust Fund.

This approach offers an incentive for the government to improve revenue-generation capabilities, creates greater predictability in external funding for government budget projections and planning, and establishes a clear link between Afghan public contributions toward their government's efforts and the international community's own.

The United States can also support international efforts to responsibly develop a mineral framework law for the development of Afghanistan's mineral resources—a source of potential long-term wealth that could aid state consolidation and reduce Afghanistan's dependency on international aid. In addition, the United States should work with other international players in creating substantial infrastructure development that links Afghan minerals to regional and global markets. Given the high security risks this will likely require government underwriting.

But to attract the confidence of international investors, the Karzai government will need to commit to greater transparency and revenue-sharing with the communities where resources are found as part of a larger commitment to local government. It will need to work with local communities to avoid exacerbating resistance to the central government as seen in other cases like Pakistan's Balochistan or the Nigerian delta.

Facilitate internal peace talks

The political reforms by the Afghan government discussed above are a first but incomplete step toward resolving Afghanistan's internal conflict. More than three decades of war and the continued immunity of many conflict actors from any form of justice for their crimes and abuse have contributed to pervasive mistrust between rival communities both inside and outside the government. This makes prospects for peaceful power-sharing agreements extremely daunting.

Reconciliation will take more than bilateral discussions between the Karzai government and some select Taliban leaders amenable to talks. What's needed is a broader, more transparent process between the government and the entire Afghan public.

American officials embrace the prospect of reintegration efforts for select low-level Taliban fighters but they publicly cede the issue of talks with high-level officials to the Karzai government. The Afghan government's most recent formal peace program, the Afghanistan Peace and Reintegration Program, continues previous attempts of providing monetary incentives in return for quitting the fight, and undertaking high-level efforts to co-opt specific insurgent commanders into the central government camp.²² Moreover, officials have not achieved commitments from the Karzai government to engage in more discussions with nonarmed factions within Afghan society who fear where President Karzai is taking the country.

Reconciliation will take more than bilateral discussions between the Karzai government and some select Taliban leaders amenable to talks. U.S. officials are right that any settlement in the conflict must be Afghan-led and Afghan-accepted. American diplomats, however, have a responsibility to engage in the discussion as the most powerful armed party to the conflict, and they should publicly affirm and support inclusive talks. The United States and the Taliban have thus far both stood publicly firm in their respective "red line" preconditions for negotiations. Any progress will ultimately require concessions from all sides.

The administration should aim to support formal preliminary talks by the August 2011 Ramadan holiday period. American troops will have begun a partial withdrawal from Afghanistan by August 2011 according to the administration's plans. This withdrawal will clearly indicate to all Afghan parties that they cannot count on indefinite international resources to freeze the balance of power in place. At the same time, the pace and scope of the withdrawal will remain subject to U.S. control.

Specific steps the United States should take to promote reconciliation among the Afghan government and armed and unarmed citizens include:

Supporting community consultation as a mechanism to address grievances

The United States should support a consultation process to address grievances and increase contacts between the Karzai government and civil society representatives and political opponents regardless of whether discussions lead to any form of power-sharing agreement with Taliban leaders. This process should take place in tandem and in conjunction with government reforms discussed previously in this report.

Some communities in addition to insurgent groups have legitimate grievances that will need to be addressed. These include exclusion from the political process and resources, predatory government officials, a lack of justice, and abuses by foreign forces.

The United States and its international partners should push for talks that include a commitment to a broader truth and reconciliation process rather than ceding to President Karzai exclusive control over the structure of discussions. These conversations can begin to address issues of justice and impunity on the part of both government and insurgent figures even if prosecution or removal from public office is not immediately possible.

Establishing a neutral mediator for discussions

The United States, the Karzai government, Pakistan, and the insurgent commanders are all deeply involved in Afghanistan's conflict. This makes them poorly positioned to serve as honest brokers in mediating disputes or adjudicating past crimes in ways that their rivals will accept. The United States and its NATO-ISAF allies, along with the Afghan government and others, should instead attempt to find a neutral mediator and location to facilitate talks.

The Taliban publicly rejects the United Nations as a neutral actor in the conflict so discussions will most likely need to be held under the auspices of an Islamic country such as Turkey, or a forum such as the Organization of the Islamic Conference. The Maldives has hosted in 2009 and 2010 to a series of talks between Afghan parliamentary leaders and the Hezb-e-Islami Gulbuddin. Saudi Arabia has also facilitated informal backchannel discussions between the Karzai government and some Taliban interlocutors.

As discussed in the next section, international buy-in, particularly from Pakistan, will be a necessary condition for any talks. But their presence should be restricted to observers rather than actively dictating the scope of any agreement.

Pushing for an inclusive negotiation process in which Afghanistan's various factions are represented

President Karzai recently established a 72-member High Peace Council under the leadership of former president Burhanuddin Rabbani. But its actual power to enforce that mandate is unclear and reports suggest that the presidential office continues to conduct its own parallel private negotiations with individual Taliban representatives. The council's membership is, in any case, handpicked by the president without consultation from parliament or other representative bodies, which has led opposition politicians to complain about its independence and lack of transparency and the Taliban to denounce it.

The lack of clarity about minimum conditions on all sides for any agreement means the above concerns cannot be assuaged without guarantees of representation in the discussions. Any sustainable peace agreement will need the participation of a broader range of community leaders—including women's groups and other civil society organizations—as well as members of the former Northern Alliance who are most skeptical about any rapprochement with the Taliban, and from those close to the insurgency itself. The international community should push for their inclusion while also clearly conveying that the process should be transparent and that they will not support irreconcilables trying to undermine any talks.

The United States should express its support publicly for these peace talks. It will also need to consider supporting specific confidence-building measures such as a withdrawal of U.N. sanctions on Taliban leadership, a release of selected prisoners, a negotiated halt to assassination campaigns against Afghan government officials by insurgents, or ceasing targeted killings of insurgents by U.S. and NATO-ISAF forces.

Increase international diplomatic efforts

The Afghan government and its armed and unarmed political opponents will ultimately dictate the outcome of their country's conflict. Still, the United States, NATO members, and Afghanistan's neighbors can all play facilitator or spoiler roles in any potential settlement, making an external diplomatic track a necessary if not essential condition for progress. Afghanistan, as a landlocked country, requires its neighbors' cooperation, economic investment, and long-term security guarantees in order to develop a viable and sustainable economy and state—further underscoring the importance of these discussions.

As part of the internal Afghan political reconciliation efforts described above the U.S. secretary of state needs to push the International Contact Group on Afghanistan—an existing forum for bringing together the Afghan government and numerous other countries as well as NATO-ISAF, the European Union, and the United Nations—toward a broad-based regional dialogue.

The goal should be achieving acceptance from Afghanistan's neighbors to invest in Afghanistan's reintegration into the region but not to seek control of its internal politics, and to relinquish support for spoiler groups. Diplomatic progress will require clearly conveying that the costs for its neighbors of intervening to exploit Afghanistan's internal divisions are much higher than the potential benefits gained from working collectively to contain, manage, and ultimately resolve Afghanistan's internal conflict.

The administration should focus its diplomatic efforts over the coming year on accelerating an international diplomatic process to prepare for formal talks by internal Afghan actors during the August 2011 Ramadan holiday period. At that

Afghanistan's neighbors can all play facilitator or spoiler roles in any potential settlement, making an external diplomatic track a necessary if not essential condition for progress. time, representatives from NATO-ISAF, the Karzai government's High Peace Council, the Afghan parliament, Afghan women's groups and other civil society groups, and Taliban commanders authorized to speak for the movement should all be included in the talks. Neighbors Pakistan, India, Iran, China, and Russia should all take part as observers.

In the lead-up, working groups could be established from the International Contact Group and/or other regional forums to focus on regional economic development, border security, regional transportation, drug trafficking, and other cross-border issues.

Address geopolitical interests of neighboring countries and regional powers

Afghanistan's neighbors and regional powers have asserted their desire for the creation of a stable, peaceful Afghanistan. Yet each country has respective security and economic concerns and interests in Afghanistan that will have to be understood, addressed, and safeguarded in any negotiated settlement among Afghanistan's warring sides.

Pakistan is clearly the biggest challenge and the most likely of Afghanistan's neighbors to serve as a spoiler for a peace settlement. The Obama administration's vigorous engagement efforts since taking office have strengthened the partnership between the United States and Pakistan. But Pakistan's dangerous strategic calculation remains unchanged. The Afghan insurgency—including the Quetta Shura, the Haqqani network, and the Hezb-e-Islami—currently finds sanctuary in Pakistan from which they are able to launch attacks, recruit, and fundraise.

Pakistan's exact intentions toward its neighbor remain unclear, given its unwillingness to publicly acknowledge support for insurgent proxies, and the fact that its civilian and military leadership are not monolithic in their attitudes toward Afghanistan. But the Pakistani security establishment remains concerned with the current government in Afghanistan and its perceived alignment to India. It believes that India is attempting to increase its influence in Afghanistan and is using its presence there to gather intelligence on Pakistan and to support the Baloch separatist movement in Pakistan.²³

Moreover, the Afghan government's refusal to recognize the Durand Line, the border separating Afghanistan and Pakistan, feeds deeper Pakistani insecurities over its hold on Pashtun-dominated territories in its western border. As long as Pakistan feels underrepresented or outmaneuvered in Afghanistan—particularly when it comes to India—it will continue to support proxies and crack down on Taliban representatives who seek to negotiate independently.

Pakistani leadership—civilian and military—must be a party to talks even if the need to support Afghan sovereignty and neutrality means they cannot be allowed to dictate the full scope of an agreement. The Pakistani military's ability to direct and control the Afghan insurgency should not be assumed either by its detractors or proponents. Insurgent groups possess their own indigenous bases of support and their own motivations for halting or continuing conflict.

The United States should accelerate both its efforts to assuage Pakistani concerns through existing trilateral (Afghanistan, Pakistan, and the United States), bilateral, and multilateral frameworks and to increase pressure on the Pakistanis through enlisting the assistance of China and Saudi Arabia.²⁴

The United States should also undertake a parallel and overlapping effort simultaneously with other countries in the region that have deep reservations about a negotiated settlement with any element of the insurgency. Iran, India, China, Russia, Uzbekistan, Tajikistan, and others fear that any agreement with insurgents would provide a sanctuary for affiliated extremist groups. Drug trafficking, refugee flows, growing influence of a rival in Afghanistan, and competition over resources and trade are also major considerations for countries in the region.

India, for example, fears that reconciliation with insurgent elements in Afghanistan would amount to ceding control and power to militants such as Lashkar-e-Taiba and the Haqqani Network. Supported by the Pakistani security establishment, each has conducted deadly attacks on India, including the Mumbai attacks and the Indian embassy bombing in Kabul in 2008.

Iran, too, opposes the return of the Taliban, with whom it almost went to war in 1998 after the Taliban killed nine of its diplomats. Major Iranian interests include ensuring that anti-Shiite militant groups do not strengthen, that Iran's allies in Afghanistan including the Hazara and Tajik communities are protected, and that their influence in western Afghanistan is maintained. Moreover, Iran and Russia both have serious concerns about Afghanistan's drug trade, which takes the lives of thousands of their citizens annually and worsens internal security. Facilitating discussions on these concerns and interests should be a top priority for U.S. policymakers and elevated within the strategy. The United States should utilize existing forums such as the International Contact Group; multilateral organizations such as the United Nations, Shanghai Cooperation Organization, and the Organization of the Islamic Conference; and key allies such as Turkey, the United Arab Emirates, and Saudi Arabia to undertake a comprehensive diplomatic approach.

Separately, the United States should formalize and expand existing informationsharing networks and forums between neighboring government security forces to combat global terrorist networks such as Al Qaeda, Lashkar-e-Taiba, and others. The United States should encourage regular meetings between defense and interior ministers of countries in the region, and establish a system for direct communication, coordination, and intelligence sharing.

Reduce the U.S. military footprint and align military strategy with political objectives

NATO-ISAF needs to refocus its military strategy on a sustainable political end state that can survive the eventual drawdown of foreign forces. This report has argued that high-level military operations may bring some insurgents to the negotiating table in the short term but they cannot address the core factors contributing to Afghanistan's instability and therefore will not lead to a sustainable outcome without significant changes in the political arena and on the diplomatic stage.

Further, U.S. policymakers must acknowledge the unintended impacts that our military presence has on local Afghan societies—both through the introduction of powerful foreign combatants that can upset balances of power and also through the distortionary economic impacts of our bases, logistics networks, and other infusions of money into a very poor and fragmented society. In order to supply our military in Afghanistan, we have often relied on individuals in Afghanistan and Pakistan, who not only have links to drug trafficking networks, but who also must pay off insurgent groups to allow safe passage of goods going to the U.S. military and NATO-ISAF. Insurgents exploit suspicions of and disillusionment with the international forces and their allies to unify their movement and recruit individuals to their cause. And Afghan leaders have few incentives to compromise and to exert leadership as long as a large foreign military presence remains, freezing an unsustainable dynamic in place.

A large and indefinite U.S. military presence in Afghanistan is ultimately not a realistic option and it will not effectively advance U.S. national security interests. It will inevitably create blowback and diminishing returns for U.S. national security interests the longer it remains. It radicalizes individuals in the region, serves as a magnet for extremists around the world, and complicates our relationships with other important countries in the region who resent our presence in Afghanistan, including China, India, and Russia. It will continue to strain our military force and the U.S. economy and it will limit our ability to respond to other crises and threats globally.

Here are specific steps the United States and its allies can take to make sure their military strategy is aligned with their renewed focus on political goals.

Increase oversight of contracts and international funding

The vast majority of international aid is not given to the Afghan government but rather to private contractors and nongovernmental organizations that provide support to NATO-ISAF for logistics and protection, and undertake development assistance. It also goes directly to the Afghan population from NATO-ISAF and the militaries and civilian agencies of individual countries through mechanisms such as the Commander Emergency Response Fund and/or Provincial Reconstruction Teams.

Gen. Petraeus recently recognized in his new contracting guidelines that this money has frequently empowered warlords, commanders, and criminals either associated with the government or outside of government networks who are as despised by their communities as insurgent groups.²⁵ The money generates opposition to foreign forces and the Afghan partner government. Moreover, it is believed that our funding—which is channeled through a series of subcontractors—frequently ends up in the hands of insurgents who demand protection money from convoys to allow goods to pass and who have linkages with individuals receiving our money.²⁶

The international community—and especially the United States as the largest donor—must increase oversight of its spending in Afghanistan.²⁷ This means channeling more money through international financial institutions such as the World Bank for reconstruction assistance instead of U.S. government agencies and/or the NATO-ISAF coalition. And it may require a reduction in funding—including both development assistance and military contracts—if this funding cannot be monitored more extensively.

A large and indefinite U.S. military presence in Afghanistan is ultimately not a realistic option and it will not effectively advance U.S. national security interests. Allocating more assistance to peaceful areas where it can be monitored rather than allocating the vast majority to the most insecure areas of Afghanistan would also increase the effectiveness of foreign assistance and make it less likely to fuel corruption and empower unpopular and dangerous figures.

Rebalance allocation of military forces to halt deteriorating security situation in once stable provinces

Almost one-half of all NATO-ISAF troops are currently assigned to Regional Commands South and Southwest in Kandahar and Helmand provinces—62,000 soldiers in all. Another 32,000 forces plus Special Forces are deployed to Regional Command East along the border with Pakistan, leaving approximately 11,000 NATO-ISAF troops in Regional Command North and 6,000 in Regional Command West.²⁸

This allocation of resources has resulted in the lightest NATO-ISAF presence in areas more amenable to supporting the central government in Kabul and local authorities. In the last 18 months northern areas that were once relatively secure—such as the population centers in Kunduz, Balkh, and even Herat—have experienced greater violence than ever before.²⁹ Frustration with the central government is certainly a contributing factor to the increasing insurgent activity. But so, too, is the lack of sufficient forces to buttress stability.

NATO-ISAF forces should be rotated into areas where government support and control is strongest and where a small insertion of troops can have a large impact on the overall security situation even if it means redirecting some troops allocated for operations in the south. A more stable security environment in these areas can provide a solid foundation for a renewed political strategy focusing on addressing genuine local grievances. Insurgent groups in the north and west certainly pose a meaningful threat. But they do not possess the same capabilities, level of support, or easy access to a safe haven as those in the south and east. The objective for these areas should be to achieve the relative stability that existed in the 2004 to 2008 period.

President Obama's instructions not to clear areas that cannot be transferred and the concerns over these operations radicalizing the insurgency and bringing violence to Afghan communities for no real benefit are good reasons to reconsider heavy deployments in the south.³⁰ A rebalancing of security forces in which more troops are deployed to the north and the west of the country has potential risks—mainly that the insurgency will be under less pressure in the south and east of the country where it is strongest.

These current operations, however, do not appear to be creating conditions for long-term stability. In an environment where difficult choices are required over troop deployments, consolidating gains versus opening up new, unsustainable fronts is preferable.

— Lawrence Korb

Continue training for Afghan national army and police

The United States and NATO-ISAF should continue training the Afghan National Security Forces so that the Afghan National Army and Afghan National Police reach their respective 2011 goals of 171,600 and 134,000 by 2011. Training the army and police is critical to transferring responsibility to an Afghan government capable of providing for its own defense. Provided the Afghan government is willing to hold to political reform commitments discussed earlier this should be part of a longer-term strategic partnership agreement between the United States and Afghanistan.

This training should not, however, be solely a U.S. responsibility. As numerous countries transition out or plan to leave in the near future—such as the Netherlands, Canada, Italy, France, and Sweden—they should be asked to take a greater role in the training mission. Sharing this burden should free up some U.S. troops and a commensurate number of support soldiers for counterterrorism and stability operations.³¹

The administration should also halt or heavily increase oversight of current plans by U.S. special forces to train and expand irregular local defense militias meant to provide a stopgap security measure against insurgent infiltration. The administration believes these forces will ensure a more sustainable security situation in Afghanistan. But these forces, currently operating under the moniker of the Afghan Local Police after several earlier ill-fated iterations, undermine previous efforts to disarm and demobilize Afghan militia groups, reduce weapons throughout society, and strengthen Afghan state security forces.

Long-term security in Afghanistan will depend on an effective Afghan police force and army as well as political reforms that channel conflict within communities. Adding more independent armed actors to divided, impoverished, and embattled communities has the potential to ignite a combustible and dangerous mix.³²

The orderly drawdown of forces to reach 40,000 troops by the end of 2012 should begin now

U.S. forces should begin repositioning within Afghanistan in January 2011 to reflect a renewed emphasis on stability operations in parts of the north and west. The forces should commence an orderly withdrawal beginning now consistent

U.S. forces should begin repositioning within Afghanistan in January 2011 to reflect a renewed emphasis on stability operations in parts of the north and west. with providing enough manpower to perform counterterrorism operations and training, as well as to contain insurgent growth. By the end of 2012 the U.S. military should have no more than 40,000 troops in Afghanistan.

The United States should aim to reduce its total force to no more than 15,000 troops or less by 2014 at the latest as part of its long-term strategic partnership agreement with the Afghan government. The drawdown should pause through the next presidential election in 2014 to provide a baseline of security during the first post-Karzai presidential election campaign. Once that process is complete U.S. forces can resume their drawdown to reach a residual level of 10,000 to 15,000 troops as part of the formal handover of responsibility to the new Afghan administration.

The U.S. reserve force could be based in stationed in Bagram, Jalalabad, and/or Kandahar in Afghanistan, or in the region. These forces would be responsible for intelligence collection, security force training, and targeted strikes against terrorist groups including Al Qaeda that threaten the U.S. homeland and our allies.

Accelerate drawdown of forces if political reforms do not occur

The withdrawal's pace should depend in part on the Afghan government's progress regarding political reforms mentioned earlier in this report. The size of the July 2011 troop withdrawal should be informed by the June 2011 quarterly review. If the Karzai government shows no signs of progress a withdrawal schedule should be accelerated.

A more rapid withdrawal—drawing down to a force of 15,000 or less U.S. troops—would entail significant risks. The broader range of U.S. covert and overt policy tools means those risks could be mitigated in terms of American national security. But they still would be borne much more heavily by the Afghan people and potentially their neighbors.

Absent meaningful progress on political reforms, however, the United States will never be able to consolidate security in Afghanistan and committing resources indefinitely would be irresponsible and unsustainable.

Conclusion

Our current strategy in Afghanistan will not lead to a stable outcome where the Afghan government is increasingly able to manage its internal and external threats as foreign forces reduce their commitments. It is not advancing U.S. national security interests in the region at a sustainable cost and over a realistic time frame. We need to change course in Afghanistan now so that the United States and its NATO partners can focus more attention and resources on political and diplomatic strategies that address the primary causes of the country's instability.

At the same time, the United States should rebalance its foreign policy portfolio to reduce its overinvestment in Afghanistan and allocate more attention and resources to other policy priorities, including Pakistan, terrorism, and the United States' economic competitiveness.

The United States, NATO-ISAF partners, and the Afghan government have all committed to transfer control of Afghanistan to Afghan authorities by 2014. In the interim the United States and NATO-ISAF should use existing leverage to motivate Afghan and Pakistani leaders as well as regional players to make the difficult choices essential to creating peace.

We should clearly convey our expectations that the Karzai government must commit to undertake political reforms that relinquish some of its concentrated power with the goal of increasing internal checks and balances and broadening the governing coalition. We should also encourage the Karzai government to undertake inclusive talks with both nonarmed factions within Afghanistan and armed insurgents.

These efforts should be complemented by an international diplomatic track in which the United States and NATO-ISAF support the creation of a framework that establishes Afghanistan as a sovereign country increasingly integrated into the region and unfriendly to terrorist groups.

Fighting the insurgency on behalf of a government that is unwilling to reform will lead to elusive gains and unfulfilled sacrifices for our brave American and NATO men and women serving in Afghanistan, and will not advance the U.S. security interests.

Further, the United States and NATO-ISAF must align the military component of their strategy with political and diplomatic objectives. This would involve supporting and advancing the strategy's nonmilitary components by creating a political and diplomatic process to drive military operations and not the reverse.

If the Afghan leadership seriously fails to tackle issues central to creating peace the United States and NATO-ISAF have no choice but to accelerate their drawdown before 2014. Fighting the insurgency on behalf of a government that is unwilling to reform will lead to elusive gains and unfulfilled sacrifices for our brave American and NATO men and women serving in Afghanistan, and will not advance the security interests of the United States or of our allies.

Acknowledgments

We are deeply indebted to our colleagues at the Center for American Progress, in particular Rudy deLeon, Ken Gude, Neera Tanden, John Norris, Pratap Chatterjee, and Peter Juul whose inputs greatly improved this paper. The Center's Editorial team, including Ed Paisley, Daniel Wagener, and Shannon Ryan also ensured that this product was ready for primetime through their keen understanding of how to make an argument flow and create a readable paper.

We are also especially grateful to a number of experts who reviewed previous drafts including Michael Cohen, Clare Lockhart, Hamish Nixon, Neamat Nojumi, Gerard Russell, Michael Shurkin, Scott Worden, and Andrew Wilder. And thank you to those in the U.S. government who provided comments, but would prefer to remain anonymous. The views expressed in this paper are ours alone, as are the errors.

About the authors

Caroline Wadhams is the Director for South Asia Security Studies at American Progress. She focuses on Afghanistan, Pakistan, terrorism issues, and U.S. national security. Prior to American Progress, she served as a legislative assistant on foreign policy issues for Sen. Russ Feingold (D-WI). Wadhams also worked at the Council on Foreign Relations in Washington, D.C., as the assistant director for the Meetings Program and in New York as a research associate on national security issues.

Her overseas experience includes work with the International Rescue Committee in Sierra Leone and two years in Ecuador and Chile. She served as a U.S. election observer for Afghanistan's parliamentary elections in September 2010 and Pakistan's parliamentary elections in February 2008. She is a 2005 Manfred Wörner fellow with the German Marshall Fund and a term member at the Council on Foreign Relations.

She received a master's degree in international relations from the Fletcher School of Law and Diplomacy at Tufts University. Wadhams has been a guest analyst with numerous international, national, and local news outlets, including CNN, BBC, C-SPAN, Voice of America, Al Jazeera, FOX, Reuters, and NPR.

Colin Cookman is a Research Assistant for National Security at American Progress. His research and writing at CAP focuses primarily on issues related to Pakistan, Afghanistan, and broader counterterrorism policy. He also provides administrative and organizational support to the range of work conducted by the National Security team. From August through September 2010, Colin served on the core team of Democracy International's election observation mission to the 2010 Afghan parliamentary elections in Kabul. Colin graduated from Boston University magna cum laude with a bachelor's degree in international relations in 2005. Prior to his arrival at the Center in January 2008, he was employed as an assistant language teacher in Karatsu City, Japan, and as an assistant advisor with Habitat for Humanity International's Summer Youth Blitz Program. He is a native of Bloomington, Indiana.

Brian Katulis is a Senior Fellow at American Progress, where his work focuses on U.S. national security policy in the Middle East and South Asia. Katulis has served as a consultant to numerous U.S. government agencies, private corporations, and nongovernmental organizations on projects in more than two dozen countries, including Iraq, Pakistan, Afghanistan, Yemen, Egypt, and Colombia. From 1995 to 1998, he lived and worked in the West Bank and Gaza Strip and Egypt for the National Democratic Institute for International Affairs.

Katulis received a master's degree from Princeton University's Woodrow Wilson School for Public and International Affairs and a B.A. in history and Arab and Islamic Studies from Villanova University. In 1994 and 1995, he was a Fulbright scholar in Amman, Jordan, where he conducted research on the peace treaty between Israel and Jordan. Katulis has published articles in several newspapers and journals, including *The Washington Post, Los Angeles Times, Boston Globe, Baltimore Sun,* and *Middle East Policy,* among other publications. He is co-author of *The Prosperity Agenda,* a book on U.S. national security published by John Wiley & Sons in 2008. Katulis speaks Arabic.

Lawrence J. Korb is a Senior Fellow at the Center for American Progress. He is also a senior advisor to the Center for Defense Information and an adjunct professor at Georgetown University. Prior to joining the Center for American Progress he was a senior fellow and director of National Security Studies at the Council on Foreign Relations. From July 1998 to October 2002 he was council vice president, director of studies, and holder of the Maurice Greenberg Chair. Prior to joining the council, Dr. Korb served as director of the Center for Public Policy Education and senior fellow in the Foreign Policy Studies Program at the Brookings Institution; dean of the Graduate School of Public and International Affairs at the University of Pittsburgh; vice president of corporate operations at the Raytheon Company; and director of defense studies at the American Enterprise Institute.

Dr. Korb served as assistant secretary of defense (manpower, reserve affairs, installations, and logistics) from 1981 through 1985. In that position, he administered about 70 percent of the defense budget. For his service in that position, he was awarded the Department of Defense's medal for Distinguished Public Service. Dr. Korb served on active duty for four years as Naval Flight Officer, and retired from the Naval Reserve with the rank of captain. He received his Ph.D. in political science from the State University of New York at Albany and has held full-time teaching positions at the University of Dayton, the Coast Guard Academy, and the Naval War College.

Dr. Korb has authored, co-authored, edited, or contributed to more than 20 books and written more than 100 articles on national security issues. His books include *The Joint Chiefs of Staff: The First Twenty-five Years; The Fall and Rise of the Pentagon; American National Security: Policy and Process, Future Visions for U.S. Defense Policy; Reshaping America's Military; A New National Security Strategy in an Age of Terrorists, Tyrants, and Weapons of Mass Destruction; Serving America's Veterans; and Military Reform.*

Endnotes

- 1 "International Security Assistance Force Placemat," available at http:// www.nato.int/isaf/docu/epub/pdf/placemat_archive/isaf_placemat_080206.pdf,"International Security Assistance Force (ISAF): Key Facts and Figures," available at http://www.isaf.nato.int/images/stories/ File/Placemats/25OCT10%20Placemat%20page%201,2,3.pdf.
- 2 \$7.2 billion per month in obligations for the month of June 2010, the most recent date for which figures were available. See: Amy Belasco, "The Cost of Iraq, Afghanistan, and Other Global War on Terror Operations Since 9/11" (Washington: Congressional Research Service, 2010), available at http://www.fas.org/sgp/crs/natsec/RL33110.pdf.
- 3 "White Paper of the Interagency Policy Group's Report on U.S. Policy toward Afghanistan and Pakistan."White paper (White House, March 27, 2009), available at http://www.whitehouse.gov/assets/documents/ afghanistan_pakistan_white_paper_final.pdf; Office of the Special Representative for Afghanistan and Pakistan, Afghanistan and Pakistan Regional Stabilization Strategy (Department of State, 2010), available at http://www.state.gov/documents/organization/135728.pdf; "Remarks by the President in Address to the Nation on the Way Forward in Afghanistan and Pakistan," December 1, 2009, available at http://www. whitehouse.gov/the-press-office/remarks-president-address-nationway-forward-afghanistan-and-pakistan.
- 4 Thom Shanker, Elizabeth Bumiller, and Rod Nordland, "Despite Gains, Night Raids Split U.S. and Karzai," New York Times, November 15, 2010, available at http://www.nytimes.com/2010/11/16/world/asia/16night. html?pagewanted=print.
- 5 The declaration of the November 2010 Lisbon conference includes references to previous commitments, but does not fundamentally address the government's exclusive structure. See North Atlantic Treaty Organization, "Declaration by the North Atlantic Treaty Organization and the Government of the Islamic Republic of Afghanistan on an Enduring Partnership signed at the NATO Summit in Lisbon, Portugal" (NATO, 2010), available at http://www.nato.int/cps/en/SID-F7CDFC23-D8564518/natolive/official_texts_68724.htm?
- 6 The White House, Report on Afghanistan and Pakistan (Executive Office of the President, 2010), available at http://www.humansecuritygateway. com/documents/WhiteHouse_Afghan_pakistan_Report_09_2010.pdf.
- 7 \$104.9 billion in spending for FY2010 according to the Congressional Research Service versus \$108.6 billion in combined Department of Homeland Security and nonmilitary intelligence budgets. See Amy Belasco, "The Cost of Iraq, Afghanistan, and Other Global War on Terror Operations Since 9/11" (Washington: Congressional Research Service, 2010), available at http://www.fas.org/sgp/crs/natsec/RL33110.pdf; "FY2011 Budget in Brief" (Washington: Department of Homeland Security, 2010), available at http://www.dhs.gov/klibrary/assets/ budget_bib_fy2011.pdf; and "DNI Releases Budget Figure for 2010 National Intelligence Program" (Washington: Office of the Director of National Intelligence, 2010), available at http://dni.gov/press_releases/20101028_2010_NIP_release.pdf.
- 8 The United Nations' midyear survey of civilian casualties in Afghanistan found a 31 percent increase in deaths during the first six months of 2010 over the previous year, of which Taliban and other antigovernment elements were responsible for 76 percent, an increase from 53 percent the previous year. "Afghan Civilian Casualties Rise 31 Percent in First Six Months of 2010," United Nations Assistance Mission in Afghanistan, August 10, 2010, available at http://unama.unmissions.org/Default.aspx ?tabid=1741&ctL=Details&mid=1882&ItemID=9955.

- 9 The Afghan "Quetta Shura" Taliban, who identify themselves as the Islamic Emirate of Afghanistan, form the largest network; the Jalaluddin Haqqani network operating in the country's southeast and the Hezb-e-Islami Gulbuddin network in the northeast represent the two other principal insurgent groups and appear to be operationally distinct from the Taliban at large. For more detailed analysis of the insurgency, see: Thomas Ruttig, "The Other Side" (Berlin: Afghanistan Analysts Network, 2009), available at http://www.aan-afghanistan. org/uploads/200907%20AAN%20Report%20Ruttig%20-%20The%20 Other%20Side.PDF; Antonio Giustozzi, "Negotiating with the Taliban: Issues and Prospects" (Washington: Century Foundation, June 2010), available at http://tcf.org/publications/pdfs/pb716/Giustozzi.pdf; Matt Waldman, "Dangerous Liaisons with the Afghan Taliban" (Washington: United States Institute of Peace, 2010), available at http://www.usip.org/ files/resources/SR%20256%20-%20Dangerous%20Liaisons%20with%20 the%20Afghan%20Taliban.pdf; Anand Gopal, "Militancy and Conflict in Kandahar" (Washington: New America Foundation, 2010), available at http://security.newamerica.net/publications/policy/the_battle_for_afghanistan.
- 10 Greg Miller, "U.S. Military Campaign to Topple Resilient Taliban Hasn't Succeeded," The Washington Post, October 27, 2010, available at http:// www.washingtonpost.com/wp-dyn/content/article/2010/10/26/ AR2010102606571_pf.html; Yaroslav Trofimov, "Taliban Influence Grows in North," The Wall Street Journal, October 18, 2010, available at http:// online.wsj.com/article/SB1000142405274870430060457555414401013 2862.html.
- 11 Sami Yousafzai and Ron Moreau, "Taliban Chiefs: No Peace Talks in Progress," Newsweek, October 22, 2010, available at http://online.wsj. com/article/SB10001424052748704300604575554144010132862. html?mod=fox_australian.
- 12 Scott Atran, "Turning the Taliban Against Al Qaeda," *The New York Times*, October 26, 2010, available at http://www.nytimes.com/2010/10/27/ opinion/27atran.html?pagewanted=print; Thomas Rutig, "Lower Aims, Higher Risks," Afghanistan Analysts Network, October 16, 2010, available at http://aan-afghanistan.com/index.asp?id=1231; Sami Yousafzai and Ron Moreau, "Not Your Father's Taliban," *Newsweek*, May 7, 2010, available at http://www.newsweek.com/2010/05/07/not-your-father-staliban.print.html.
- 13 For a more detailed analysis of Afghan governance and its impacts on the conflict, see: Colin Cookman and Caroline Wadhams, "Governance in Afghanistan: Looking Ahead to What We Leave Behind" (Washington: Center for American Progress, 2010), available at http://www.americanprogress.org/issues/2010/05/afghan_governance.html.
- 14 Mark Mazetti and Rod Nordland, "U.S. Debates Karzai's Place in Fighting Corruption," New York Times, September 14, 2010, available at http://www.nytimes.com/2010/09/15/world/asia/15corruption. html?pagewanted=print; Rajiv Chandrasekaran, "Karzai Rift Prompts U.S. to Reevaluate Anti-Corruption Strategy in Afghanistan," The Washington Post, September 13, 2010, available at http://www.washingtonpost. com/wp-dyn/content/article/2010/09/12/AR2010091203883_pf.html; Matthew Rosenberg and Maria Ab-Habib, "Afghanistan Blunts Anticorruption Efforts," The Wall Street Journal, September 12, 2010, available at http://online.wsj.com/article/SB10001424052748704621204575487721 439384494.html.

15 Cookman and Wadhams, "Governance in Afghanistan."

- 16 For more on the impact of U.S. security contracts on local Afghan security and politics, see: Committee on Oversight and Government Reform, Warlord, Inc.: Extortion and Corruption Along the U.S. Supply Chain in Afghanistan (Government Printing Office, 2010) available at http:// www.cbsnews.com/htdocs/pdf/HNT_Report.pdf; Committee on Armed Services, Inquiry into the Role and Oversight of Private Security Contractors in Afghanistan (Government Printing Office, 2010), available at http:// armed-services.senate.gov/Publications/SASC%20PSC%20Report%20 10-07-10.pdf.
- 17 Dexter Filkins, "Pakistanis Tell of Motive in Taliban Leader's Arrest," The New York Times, August 22, 2010, available at http://www.nytimes. com/2010/08/23/world/asia/23taliban.html?pagewanted=print.
- 18 Tom Wright, "Pakistan Seeks Role in Taliban Talks," *The Wall Street Journal*, October 21, 2010, available at http://online.wsj.com/article/SB10001 424052702303339504575560001293007126.html?mod=WSJ_latestheadlines; David Nakamura, "Pakistani Security Officials Seek Larger Role in Negotiations with Taliban," *The Washington Post*, October 24, 2010, available at http://www.washingtonpost.com/wp-dyn/content/ article/2010/10/24/AR2010102401676_pf.html.
- 19 Christine Fair, "India in Afghanistan and Beyond: Opportunities and Constraints" (Washington: Century Foundation, 2010), available at http://tcf.org/publications/2010/9/india-in-afghanistan-and-beyondopportunities-and-constraints/pdf.
- 20 Rod Nordland, "Iran Sends Delegate to International Meeting on Afghanistan," *The New York Times*, October 18, 2010, available at http://www.nytimes.com/2010/10/19/world/middleeast/19iran. html?pagewanted=print.
- 21 For data from the 2005 parliamentary elections, see: Colin Cookman, "More on SNTV," available at http://afghan2010.com/news/more-sntv.
- 22 For further analysis of the Karzai administration's peace plans, see: Caroline Wadhams and Colin Cookman, "Assessing Peace Prospects in Afghanistan," Center for American Progress, June 2, 2010, available at http://www.americanprogress.org/issues/2010/06/peace_jirga.html.
- 23 See Gregg, Tom, "Is a Regional Pact to Stabilize Afghanistan Possible?", New York University Center on International Cooperation," July 2010, available online at http://www.cic.nyu.edu/afghanistan/docs/gregg_stabil_afghan.pdf

24 Ibid.

- 25 Alissa Rubin, "Afghan Commander Issues Rules on Contractors," The New York Times, September 12, 2010, available at http://www.nytimes. com/2010/09/13/world/13petraeus.html. For the actual guidelines, see: Gen. David Petraeus' Memo on COMISAF's Counterinsurgency Contracting Guidance, available online at http://graphics8.nytimes.com/packages/pdf/PETRAEUSGUIDELINES.pdf.
- 26 Committee on Oversight and Government Reform, Warlord, Inc.: Extortion and Corruption Along the U.S. Supply Chain in Afghanistan (Government Printing Office, 2010) available at http://www.cbsnews.com/ htdocs/pdf/HNT_Report.pdf.
- 27 Special Inspector General for Afghanistan Reconstruction, October 30, 2010 Quarterly Report to Congress, available at http://www.sigar.mil/pdf/ quarterlyreports/Oct2010/Lores/SIGAR4Q_2010Book.pdf.
- 28 In February 2008, there were approximately 19,000 NATO-ISAF troops in the Southwest. At that time RC South included both Helmand and Kandahar; and was not separated into two Regional Commands. 15,000 troops were deployed to the east; and RC North had approximately 4,000 troops. See "International Security Assistance Force Placemat," available at http://www.isaf.nato.int/images/stories/File/Placemats/100804%20Rev%20Placemat.pdf and http://www.nato.int/isaf/ docu/epub/pdf/placemat_archive/isaf_placemat_080206.pdf.
- 29 Trofimov, Yaroslav, "Taliban Influence Grows in North," Wall Street Journal, October 18, 2010, available online at http://online.wsj.com/article/SB 10001424052748704300604575554144010132862.html; Sharafyar, Sharafuddin, "Bombers Hit U.N. Base in Afghanistan," Reuters, October 23, 2010, available online at http://www.reuters.com/article/idUS-TRE69M0PJ20101023.
- 30 See Bob Woodward, "Obama's Wars," Simon and Schuster, September 2010, p. 325.
- 31 Based on the number of Police Operational Mentor and Liason Teams and the average size, there are between 6,405 and 10,540 NATO personnel involved in embedded training. See: North Atlantic Treaty Organization, "Afghan National Security Forces (ANSF)," available at http://www. isaf.nato.int/images/stories/File/factsheets/1667-10_ANSF_LR_en2.pdf. As for strictly U.S. numbers, there are between 5,021 and 7,708 Americans involved in embedded training.
- 32 For more on the Afghan Local Police and other militia programs, see Cookman and Wadhams, "Governance in Afghanistan," p. 32-34, and Ashley Jackson, "Nowhere to Turn: The Failure to Protect Civilians in Afghanistan (Afghanistan: Oxfam International, 2010), available at http:// www.oxfam.org.au/site-media/wp-uploads/2010/11/Nowhere-to-Turn-Report1.pdf, pp 14-16.

The Center for American Progress is a nonpartisan research and educational institute dedicated to promoting a strong, just and free America that ensures opportunity for all. We believe that Americans are bound together by a common commitment to these values and we aspire to ensure that our national policies reflect these values. We work to find progressive and pragmatic solutions to significant domestic and international problems and develop policy proposals that foster a government that is "of the people, by the people, and for the people."

